
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
 
___________________________________  
HEATHER MCMILLAN NAKAI      ) 
404 King Farm Blvd. #02                    ) 
Rockville, MD 20850     ) 
(240) 912-6956                          ) 
      ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff  )  
      ) 
      )  
v.      ) 
      ) 
SALLY JEWELL    ) 1:16-cv-01500tsc 
in her official capacity as   ) 
Secretary      ) 
United States Department of the Interior )   
1849 C. Street NW    ) COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY  
Washington, DC 20240   ) AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF   
      ) 
LAWRENCE ROBERTS   ) 
in his official capacity as    ) 
Acting Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs ) 
United States Department of the Interior  ) 
1849 C Street NW    ) 
Washington, DC 20240   ) 
      ) 
BRUCE MAYTUBBY   ) 
in his official capacity as    ) 
Regional Director    ) 
Eastern Region    ) 
Bureau of Indian Affairs   ) 
545 Marriott Drive, Suite 700   ) 
Nashville, TN 37214    ) 
      ) 
UNITED STATES     ) 
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR ) 
1849 C Street NW    ) 
Washington, DC 20240,   )  
      ) 
   Defendants  ) 
___________________________________ ) 
 

 



INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 

1. Heather L. McMillan Nakai (Ms. McMillan Nakai) challenges an April 17, 2012 decision 

issued by the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Interior through her designee the Eastern 

Regional Office of the Bureau of Indian Affairs denying Ms. McMillan Nakai’s request for 

verification of eligibility for Indian Preference in a manner that is arbitrary, capricious, not in 

accordance with the Indian Reorganization Act and its implementing regulations, and 

otherwise an abuse of discretion.  The Secretary’s decision denied Ms. McMillan Nakai 

verification of Indian Preference despite the fact that Ms. McMillan Nakai meets the standard 

of eligibility for Indian Preference, that she provided the Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”) 

with the specific federal records identified by the BIA as acceptable proof of eligibility for 

Indian Preference, and that she followed the procedure for acquiring that verification outlined 

by the BIA in its regulations and the accompanying form.  The decision below is thus in 

violation of the Indian Reorganization Act, 25 U.S.C. § 472. Ms. McMillan Nakai therefore 

seeks declaratory and injunctive relief from the Secretary’s refusal of service.  

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

2. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the 

United States, including but not limited to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202 and 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706.  

This action arises under federal law, including but not limited to the Indian Reorganization 

Act, 25 U.S.C § 461 et. seq.     

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.   



4. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) and 5 U.S.C. § 703 because a 

substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims asserted occurred in this district and 

because Defendants may be found here.   

5. Ms. McMillan Nakai has the right to bring this action under 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706 because 

Defendants have engaged in final agency action presenting an actual case or controversy for 

which Ms. McMillan Nakai is entitled to relief and because the United States has consented 

to suit.  

THE PARTIES 

6. Plaintiff Ms. McMillan Nakai is an individual entitled to rights by authority of the Indian 

Reorganization Act of 1934, (IRA), 25 U.S.C. § 461 et. seq. because she is an Indian to the 

degree required by the IRA and derived from tribes indigenous to the United States and 

whom the Department of Interior has determined are entitled to benefits authorized by the 

IRA.     

7. Defendant Sally Jewell is the Secretary of the U.S. Department of the Interior (“DOI”).  She 

acts through her designee the Acting Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs, and is sued in her 

official capacity. 

8. Defendant Lawrence Roberts is the Acting Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs of the U.S. 

Department of the Interior. The Acting Assistant Secretary has responsibility for 

management of the Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”) and is sued in his official capacity.   

9. Defendant Bruce Maytubby is the Eastern Regional Director - Bureau of Indian Affairs of the 

U.S. Department of the Interior. The Eastern Regional director has responsibility for 

verifying eligibility for Indian Preference for individual Indians residing within the Eastern 

Region, which includes the State of Maryland, where Ms. McMillan Nakai resides.   



10. Defendant the U.S. Department of the Interior is an executive department of the United 

States and is headquartered at 1849 C Street NW, Washington, DC 20240.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

I.  The Present Dispute  

11. Ms. McMillan Nakai is an Indian of more than one-half degree Indian blood derived from 

tribes indigenous to the United States, collectively the Siouan Indians of Robeson County.   

12. In 1934, Congress passed the IRA providing rights, benefits, and privileges to all citizens of 

the United States who met the definition of “Indian” specifically including those people who 

were more than one-half degree of Indian blood derived from the tribes indigenous to the 

United States. Those benefits include the right to preference in employment. See 25 U.S.C. § 

472 and 25 C.F.R. Part 5.   

13. In 1935, Assistant Solicitor Felix Cohen determined that any individual Siouan Indian of 

Robeson County who was more than one-half degree of Indian blood was eligible for the 

benefits of the IRA. Exhibit 1.    

14. Ms. McMillan Nakai filed BIA Form 4432, required by the BIA to apply for Indian 

preference, with the BIA on March 14, 2012, via facsimile and a hard copy along with 

secondary supporting documents via U.S. Mail to the Eastern Regional Office.  Those 

secondary materials included U.S. census records for every individual ancestor from whom 

Ms. McMillan Nakai derives her Indian blood and indicated their names, ages, relationship to 

one another, Indian blood quantum, and tribal affiliation. Ms. McMillan Nakai also provided 

additional state records establishing her descent from those individuals. Exhibit 2. 

15. On April 19, 2012, Tribal Government Specialist Chandra Joseph denied Ms. McMillan 

Nakai’s request for verification of eligibility for Indian Preference for the stated reason that 



“the Lumbee Indians are not a Federally recognized tribe; therefore, the Bureau of Indian 

Affairs does not have any records or information regarding the Lumbee Tribe to verify your 

asserted degree of blood.” Exhibit 3.   

II. Final Agency Action 

16. On May 17, 2012, Ms. McMillan Nakai appealed the April 19, 2012 decision to the Eastern 

Region Director based on the grounds that the denial was arbitrary and capricious because it 

failed to consider the extensive materials submitted with Ms. McMillan Nakai’s BIA Form 

4432. Exhibit 4.       

17. On June 04, 2012, Eastern Region Director Franklin Keel denied Ms. McMillan Nakai’s 

request for verification of Indian Preference on the grounds that “Lumbee Indians do not 

constitute a federally recognized Tribe; therefore, the Bureau of Indian Affairs does not have 

any records of information regarding the Lumbee Tribe to verify your asserted degree of 

Indian blood.”  Exhibit 5.   

18. On July 05, 2012, Ms. McMillan Nakai appealed the Eastern Region Director’s decision to 

the Interior Board of Indian Appeals (“IBIA”).  In the required Statement of Reasons, Ms. 

McMillan Nakai outlined how she had established via state and official records including 

conclusive census records, that she was more than one-half degree Indian blood quantum 

derived from tribes indigenous to the United States. She also outlined in detail how she 

derived her degree of Indian blood from Croatan and Cherokee ancestors.  Exhibit 6. 

19. On July 24, 2012, the Eastern Region Director provided the IBIA with an Agency 

Administrative Record pursuant to IBIA regulations at 43 C.F.R. § 4.335(a).  

20. On August 16, 2012, Ms. McMillan filed an objection to the Administrative Record 

submitted by the Eastern Regional Director noting the BIA had included only 3 pages of the 



more than 60 pages she submitted to support her claim, excluding all documents that 

document her ancestors as Croatan and Cherokee and the BIA’s prior consistent decisions 

that they were Indians, identified as collectively the Siouan Indians of Robeson County.  

Exhibit 7. 

21.  On February 27, 2015, the IBIA affirmed the Region Director’s decision that Ms. McMillan 

Nakai’s is not entitled to Indian Preference. Exhibit 8.  

COUNT I 
(Declaratory and Injunctive Relief – Denial of Indian Preference in Violation of the 

Indian Reorganization Act) 
 

22. Each of the foregoing allegations is incorporated herein by reference.  

23. The Secretary lacked authority to deny of verification of Indian preference to Heather 

McMillan Nakai. Because Ms. McMillan Nakai has provided sufficient proof of her Indian 

blood quantum of more than one-half degree derived from tribes indigenous to the United 

States within the meaning of 25 U.S.C. § 479, the Secretary’s failure to provide Ms. 

McMillan Nakai with verification of eligibility of Indian preference was arbitrary, capricious, 

contrary to law, and in excess of her statutory authority under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).   

24. By defining “Indian” as any person “of one-half or more Indian blood of tribes indigenous to 

the United States,” 25 U.S.C. § 479, the IRA provides an unequivocal definition of which 

individual citizens of the United States are entitled to the benefits provided by the Indian 

Reorganization Act. 

25. The Solicitor of the Department of Interior issued a memorandum that the Siouan Indians of 

Robeson County were entitled to the benefits provided by the Indian Reorganization Act of 

1934 to the extent they were one-half degree Indian blood. 



26. The evidence in the Administrative Record unequivocally demonstrates that Ms. McMillan 

Nakai is more than one-half degree Indian blood derived from the Siouan Indians of Robeson 

County whom the Department of Interior determined were entitled to the benefits of the 

Indian Reorganization Act. Therefor the Secretary’s denial of verification of Indian 

preference violated the Indian Reorganization Act, 25 U.S.C § 479.   

27. The Secretary’s constantly changing justification for denying Ms. McMillan Nakai’s request 

for verification of Indian preference demonstrates the arbitrary nature of the decision.   

28. In 1975, the D.C. Circuit opined, in Maynor v. Morton, 501, F.2d 1254 at 1259 (1975), that 

the Secretary of Interior is “not at liberty to pick and choose among Congressional 

enactments. If he had two Acts upon the same subject, he could have given effect to both by 

simply recognizing that whatever rights…were not abrogated” by the Lumbee Act.  

29. The Secretary here, as in Maynor, was not at liberty to pick and choose among Congressional 

enactments.  Ms. McMillan Nakai is not seeking a declaration of eligibility for any benefits 

by virtue of her being a Lumbee Indian under the 1956 Act.  She predicates her claim on the 

unquestioned proof of her Indian blood quantum provided to the Secretary in accordance 

with the regulations found at 25 C.F.R. Part 5 which is more than fifty percent blood, and 

therefore an Indian as defined in the IRA of 1934.   

30. The Secretary’s decision to deny Ms. McMillan Nakai’s request for verification of Indian 

Preference is arbitrary and capricious and contrary to law because it fails to adhere to the 

IRA, 25 U.S.C. § 472 and the procedural and substantive requirements set forth in 25 C.F.R. 

Part 5 and the BIA’s Form 4432.  The Secretary did not consider the Administrative Record 

and relied on interpretations of the Lumbee Act that have already been considered by the DC 

Circuit and overturned. 



REQUESTED RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff request that the Court enter judgment as follows; 

31. Declaring that the Secretary’s decision to deny Ms. McMillan Nakai’s request for 

verification of Indian Preference violates the IRA and associated regulations and ordering the 

Secretary to set aside her denial of Indian preference verification to Ms. McMillan Nakai and 

to immediately verify her Indian preference eligibility.   

32. Declaring that the Department of Interior is required to provide benefits to individual Indians 

who may be impacted by the Lumbee Act if those individuals establish their eligibility 

without relying on the Lumbee Act.   

33. Awarding Plaintiff costs, attorneys’ fees, and other expenses of this litigation. 

34. Providing any such other relief that the Court may deem proper.  

 

Dated: July 22, 2016        Respectfully Submitted, 

          /s/ 

         Heather L. McMillan Nakai 
         404 King Farm Blvd. #02 

Rockville, MD 20850 
(240) 912-6956 


